IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

Case No. 3:20-cv-00950

HYDRITE CHEMICAL CO.,

Defendant.

CONSENT DECREE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE
II.	APPLICABILITY
III.	DEFINITIONS
IV.	CIVIL PENALTY
V.	INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
VI.	REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
VII.	STIPULATED PENALTIES
VIII.	FORCE MAJEURE
IX.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION
X.	INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION
XI.	EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS
XII.	COSTS
XIII.	NOTICES
XIV.	EFFECTIVE DATE
XV.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION
XVI.	MODIFICATION
XVII.	TERMINATION
XVIII.	26 U.S.C. § 126(f)(2)(A)(ii) IDENTIFICATION
XIX.	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
XX.	SIGNATORIES/SERVICE
XXI.	INTEGRATION
XXII.	APPENDICES
XXIII.	FINAL JUDGMENT

CONSENT DECREE

Plaintiff United States of America, on behalf of the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), has filed a Complaint in this action, concurrently with this Consent Decree, alleging that Defendant Hydrite Chemical Co. ("Hydrite") violated the Clean Air Act ("CAA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401-7671q, as well as implementing regulations and permits issued under the CAA, at its chemical blending and manufacturing facility in Cottage Grove, Wisconsin (the "Facility"). EPA outlined these violations in a Notice of Violation and Finding of Violation issued to Hydrite on June 30, 2017 (the "EPA Violation Notice").

Hydrite's Facility is classified as an area source under NESHAP Subpart VVVVVV. Hydrite submitted an initial notification for NESHAP Subpart VVVVVV on February 26, 2010 and a Notification of Compliance Status for NESHAP Subpart VVVVVV on May 10, 2013. NESHAP Subpart VVVVVV requirements are included in the Facility's operation permit.

Hydrite has replaced all manway covers with closure devices meeting the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(g) at all affected sources subject to NESHAP Subpart DD, including tanks and equipment leaks. Hydrite has also replaced the pressure relief devices at all NESHAP Subpart DD tanks. The pressure relief devices do not meet the definition of pressure relief device in NESHAP Subpart DD or NESHAP Subpart H. 40 C.F.R. § 63.681, 40 C.F.R. § 63.161.

Hydrite has developed or updated existing training procedures for all Hydrite personnel whose duties include, but are not limited to, operating or inspecting tanks or process equipment to minimize emissions and identify leaks. Hydrite has implemented the new or updated training procedures.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 4 of 69

Hydrite does not admit any facts, interpretations of law, or liability to the United States arising out of the transactions, conditions, operations or occurrences alleged in the Complaint or the EPA Violation Notice.

The United States and Hydrite (the "Parties") have agreed to resolve the claims alleged in the Complaint and the EPA Violation Notice on the terms and conditions set forth in this Consent Decree. Among other things, Hydrite is agreeing to pay a civil penalty, perform a Leak Detection and Repair ("LDAR") audit and periodic LDAR monitoring at the Facility, and maintain federally enforceable limits on the emission of Hazardous Air Pollutants from the Facility.

The Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Consent Decree finds, that this Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and will avoid litigation between the Parties and that this Consent Decree is fair, reasonable, and in the public interest.

NOW, THEREFORE, before the taking of any testimony, without the adjudication or admission of any issue of fact or law except as provided in Section I, and with the consent of the Parties, IT IS HEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as follows:

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, and CAA Section 113(b), 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and over the Parties. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and 1395(a), because the violations alleged in the Complaint are alleged to have occurred in, and Hydrite conducts business in, this judicial district. For purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this Decree, Hydrite consents to the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree and any such action and over Hydrite and consents to venue in this judicial district.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 5 of 69

2. The State of Wisconsin has actual notice of the commencement of this action in accordance with the requirements of Section 113 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413.

II. APPLICABILITY

3. The obligations of this Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon the United States, and upon Hydrite and any successors, assigns, or other entities or persons otherwise bound by law.

4. No transfer of ownership or operation of the Facility, whether in compliance with the procedures of this Paragraph or otherwise, shall relieve Hydrite of its obligation to ensure that the terms of the Decree are implemented. At least 30 Days prior to such transfer, Hydrite shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to the proposed transferee and shall simultaneously provide written notice of the prospective transfer, together with a copy of the proposed written agreement, to EPA Region 5 and the United States Department of Justice, in accordance with Section XIII (Notices). Any attempt to transfer ownership or operation of the Facility without complying with this Paragraph constitutes a violation of this Decree.

5. Hydrite shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to all officers, employees, and agents whose duties might reasonably include compliance with any provision of this Decree, as well as to any contractor retained to perform work required under this Consent Decree. Hydrite shall condition any such contract upon performance of the work in conformity with the terms of this Consent Decree.

6. In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Hydrite shall not raise as a defense the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or contractors to take any actions necessary to comply with the provisions of this Consent Decree.

III. DEFINITIONS

7. Terms used in this Consent Decree that are defined in the CAA or in regulations promulgated pursuant to the CAA shall have the meanings assigned to them in the CAA or such regulations, unless otherwise provided in this Decree. Whenever the terms set forth below are used in this Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply:

a. "CAA" means the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401-7671q.

b. "Calendar Quarter" means the time periods within a given year from:

(i) January 1-March 31; (ii) April 1-June 30; (iii) July 1-September 30; and

(iv) October 1-December 31.

c. "Complaint" means the complaint filed by the United States in this action.

d. "Consent Decree" or "Decree" means this Decree and all appendices attached hereto (listed in Section XXII).

e. "Day" means a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business day. In computing any period of time under this Consent Decree, where the last day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period runs until the close of business of the next business day.

f. "Date of Lodging" means the day on which this Consent Decree is lodged with this Court as a proposed settlement, before a public comment period and before this Court's consideration of the Consent Decree.

g. "Effective Date" has the definition provided in Section XIV.

h. "EPA" means the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any of its successor departments or agencies.

i. "EPA Method 21" means EPA's Reference Method 21 for Determination of Volatile Organic Compound Leaks, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 60, Appendix A-7.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 7 of 69

j. "EPA Violation Notice" means the Notice of Violation and Finding of Violation issued to Hydrite by EPA on June 30, 2017 (attached as Appendix A to this Consent Decree).

k. "Facility" means Hydrite's chemical blending and manufacturing facility located at 114 North Main Street in Cottage Grove, Wisconsin.

l. "HAP" means Hazardous Air Pollutant as defined under Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412.

m. "HAP Service" refers to a piece of equipment that either contains or contacts a fluid (liquid or gas) that is at least 5% by weight of total organic HAP for 300 hours or more during the calendar year, and that is subject to LDAR requirements referenced in NESHAP Subpart DD, NESHAP Subpart H, and other applicable requirements (*e.g.*, applicability of regulations to process units and/or specific equipment; leak definitions; monitoring frequencies).

n. "Hydrite" means Defendant Hydrite Chemical Co.

 o. "NESHAP Subpart DD" means the National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants for Off-Site Waste and Recovery Operations, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD.

p. "NESHAP Subpart H" means the National Emissions Standards for
 Organic Hazardous Air Pollutants for Equipment Leaks, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 63,
 Subpart H.

q. "NESHAP Subpart VVVVV" means the National Emissions Standards
 for Hazardous Air Pollutants for Chemical Manufacturing Area Sources, codified at
 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart VVVVV.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 8 of 69

r. "Paragraph" means a portion of this Decree identified by an Arabic numeral.

s. "Parties" means the United States and Hydrite.

t. "Permits" means all permits for the Facility issued under the CAA or laws or regulations implementing the CAA, including Wisconsin's CAA State Implementation Plan. The term "Permits" includes, but is not limited to, Operation Permit No.

113063390-P23 for the Facility (the "Current Operation Permit"), as well as any renewal or replacement for the Current Operation Permit.

u. "ppm" means parts per million.

v. "RCRA Subpart BB" means the Air Emissions Standards for Equipment Leaks for Owners and Operators of Hazardous Waste Treatment, Storage, and Disposal Facilities regulated under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 264, Subpart BB.

w. "Section" means a portion of this Decree identified by a roman numeral.

x. "State" means the State of Wisconsin, including but not limited to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.

y. "tpy" means tons per year.

z. "VOC" means volatile organic compounds.

aa. "United States" means the United States of America, acting on behalf of EPA.

IV. CIVIL PENALTY

8. Within 30 days after the Effective Date, Hydrite shall pay the sum of \$480,503 as a civil penalty, together with interest accruing from the Date of Lodging, at the rate specified in 28 U.S.C. § 1961 as of the Date of Lodging.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 9 of 69

9. Hydrite shall pay the civil penalty due by FedWire Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") to the U.S. Department of Justice account, in accordance with instructions provided to Hydrite by the Financial Litigation Unit ("FLU") of the United States Attorney's Office for the Western District of Wisconsin after the Effective Date. The payment instructions provided by the FLU will include a Consolidated Debt Collection System ("CDCS") number, which Hydrite shall use to identify all payments required to be made in accordance with this Consent Decree. The FLU will provide the payment instructions to:

Thadd Stankowski General Counsel Hydrite Chemical Company 300 N. Patrick Blvd Brookfield, WI 53045 Email: legal@hydrite.com

on behalf of Hydrite. Hydrite may change the individual to receive payment instructions on its behalf by providing written notice of such change to the United States and EPA in accordance with Section XIII (Notices).

10. At the time of payment, Hydrite shall send notice that payment has been made: (i) to EPA via email at cinwd_acctsreceivable@epa.gov or via regular mail at EPA Cincinnati Finance Office, 26 W. Martin Luther King Drive, Cincinnati, Ohio 45268; (ii) to the United States via email or regular mail in accordance with Section XIII; and (iii) to EPA in accordance with Section XIII. Such notice shall state that the payment is for the civil penalty owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in *United States v. Hydrite Chemical Co.* and shall reference the civil action number, CDCS Number and DOJ case number 90-5-2-1-12229.

11. Hydrite shall not deduct any penalties paid under this Decree pursuant to this Section or Section VII (Stipulated Penalties) in calculating its federal income tax.

V. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

A. LDAR Program

12. LDAR Program Description. By no later than 90 Days after the Date of Lodging, to the extent necessary, Hydrite shall update the Standard Operating Procedures for its Facility that describe: (i) the Leak Detection and Repair ("LDAR") Program for the Facility, with specific attention to how that program applies to all equipment in HAP Service; (ii) the tracking program (*e.g.*, Management of Change) that ensures that new pieces of equipment added to the process units are, as applicable, integrated into the LDAR Program and that pieces of equipment that are taken out of service are, as applicable, removed from the LDAR Program; (iii) the roles and responsibilities of all employee and contractor personnel assigned to LDAR functions at the process units; and (iv) how the number of personnel dedicated to LDAR functions is sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the LDAR Program.

13. <u>Daily Certification by Monitoring Technicians</u>. Commencing no later than 30 Days after the Effective Date, on each Day that LDAR monitoring occurs, at the end of such monitoring, Hydrite shall ensure that each monitoring technician certifies that the data collected accurately represents the monitoring performed for that Day by requiring the monitoring technician to sign a form that includes the following, or a substantially similar, certification:

On [insert date], I reviewed the monitoring data that I collected today and to the best of my knowledge and belief, the data accurately represents the monitoring that I performed today.

14. <u>QA/QC</u>. Commencing no later than the first full Calendar Quarter after the Effective Date and continuing through EPA's approval of the Demonstration Period Report, at times that are not announced to the LDAR monitoring technicians, an LDAR-trained employee or contractor of Hydrite, who does not serve on a routine basis as an LDAR monitoring

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 11 of 69

technician at the Facility, shall undertake the following no less than once per Calendar Quarter at the Facility:

a. Verify that equipment was monitored at the appropriate frequency;

b. Verify that proper documentation and sign-offs have been recorded for all equipment placed on the delay of repair list;

c. Ensure that repairs have been performed in the required periods;

d. Review monitoring data and equipment counts (*e.g.*, number of pieces of equipment monitored per Day) for feasibility and unusual trends;

e. Verify that proper calibration records and monitoring instrument maintenance information are maintained;

f. Spot check that LDAR records are maintained as required; and

g. Observe in the field each LDAR monitoring technician who is conducting leak detection monitoring to ensure that monitoring during the quarterly QA/QC is being conducted as required. Each technician shall be observed for a period of time sufficient to ensure that Method 21 is generally being performed properly.

Hydrite shall promptly correct any deficiencies detected or observed. Hydrite shall maintain a log that: (i) records the date and time that the QA/QC reviews, verifications, and observations required by this Paragraph are undertaken; and (ii) describes the nature and timing of any corrective actions taken.

15. <u>LDAR Audit</u>. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Hydrite shall retain a qualified third-party contractor to perform a one-time LDAR audit ("LDAR Audit") (the "Auditor"), ensuring that the Auditor is a contractor other than a contractor that normally performs LDAR monitoring at the Facility and the Auditor has experience in conducting LDAR audits. By no later than 210 Days after the Effective Date, Hydrite shall conduct and complete

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 12 of 69

the LDAR Audit at the Facility's process units. The LDAR Audit shall include: (i) reviewing compliance with all applicable LDAR regulations, including all applicable LDAR requirements related to valves, connectors, pumps, agitators, and open-ended lines; (ii) reviewing and/or verifying the same QA/QC items that are required to be reviewed in Paragraph 14, except observation of the LDAR monitoring technician is not required; (iii) reviewing whether any pieces of equipment that are required to be in the LDAR Program are not included; and (iv) "comparative monitoring" as described in Paragraph 16. The LDAR Audit Report shall be provided to Hydrite by no later than 240 Days after the Effective Date.

16. <u>Comparative Monitoring</u>. Comparative monitoring conducted during the LDAR Audit required by Paragraph 15 must be undertaken as follows:

a. <u>Calculating a Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage</u>.

Equipment shall be monitored in accordance with EPA Method 21, in order to calculate a leak percentage for each process unit, broken down by equipment type (*i.e.*, valves, pumps, agitators, and connectors). For descriptive purposes under this section, the monitoring that takes place during the LDAR Audit shall be called "Comparative Monitoring" and the leak percentages derived from the Comparative Monitoring shall be called the "Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentages." In undertaking Comparative Monitoring, Hydrite shall not be required to monitor every component in the process unit.

b. <u>Calculating the Historic, Average Leak Percentage from Prior Periodic</u> Monitoring Events.

(1) The historic, average leak percentage from prior periodic monitoring events shall be calculated for each equipment type (*i.e.*, valves (excluding pressure relief valves), pumps, agitators, and connectors). The

following number of complete monitoring periods immediately preceding the Comparative Monitoring shall be used for this purpose: NESHAP Subpart DD valves or valves associated with bulk storage tanks – four periods; NESHAP Subpart DD pumps and agitators – twelve periods; non-NESHAP Subpart DD pumps and agitators – six periods (to the extent monitoring is available); and connectors and components that are monitored once every three years in accordance with the Current Operation Permit – two periods.

(2) In calculating the historic, average leak percentage, Hydrite shall not use any repair verification monitoring events for purposes of calculating a quarterly rate. Accordingly, for valves that have been repaired, Hydrite cannot include the next two monthly readings as part of the total number of quarterly monitoring events.

c. <u>Calculating the Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio</u>. For each type of equipment, the ratio of the Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage from Subparagraph 16.a to the historic, average leak percentage from Subparagraph 16.b shall be calculated. This ratio shall be called the "Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio." If the denominator in this calculation is "zero," it shall be assumed (for purposes of this calculation but not for any other purpose under this Consent Decree or under any applicable laws and regulations) that one leaking piece of equipment was found in the Unit through routine monitoring during the applicable period referenced in Subparagraph 16.b.

17. LDAR Audit Report and Corrective Action Plan.

a. By no later than 270 Days after the Effective Date, Hydrite shall submit the following in accordance with Consent Decree Subsection V.E: (i) an LDAR Audit

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 14 of 69

Report, prepared by the Auditor, which summarizes the results of the Audit (addressing each Audit element listed in Paragraph 15) and identifies the date on which the LDAR Audit was completed; and (ii) a certification that no corrective actions were recommended by the LDAR Audit, if applicable.

b. <u>Corrective Action Plan</u>. Hydrite shall develop a Preliminary Corrective Action Plan ("CAP") if: (i) the results of the LDAR Audit identify any deficiencies; or (ii) a Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio calculated pursuant to Subparagraph 16.c is 3.0 or higher *and* the Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage calculated pursuant to Subparagraph 16.a is greater than or equal to 0.5 percent. The Preliminary CAP shall describe the corrective actions that Hydrite has taken or shall take to address: (i) the deficiencies and/or (ii) the causes of a Comparative Monitoring Leak Ratio that is 3.0 or higher (but only if the Comparative Monitoring Audit Leak Percentage is at or above 0.5 percent).

c. <u>Final Corrective Action Plan</u>. Hydrite shall submit a Final CAP to EPA by no later than 365 Days after the Effective Date.

- If all corrective actions have been completed by the time Hydrite submits its Final CAP, then the Final CAP shall include a final certification of completion as described in Subparagraph 17.d.
- (2) If all corrective actions have not been completed by the time Hydrite submits its Final CAP, then the CAP shall include:
 (i) Hydrite's certification of completion for each corrective action item completed to date; and (ii) Hydrite's explanation of the reasons why any remaining corrective action items have not been completed, together with a schedule for prompt completion.

Hydrite shall promptly complete each remaining corrective action item. Hydrite shall submit a final certification of completion as described in Subparagraph 17.d by no later than 30 Days after completing all remaining action items.

d. <u>Certification of Completion</u>. In accordance with Subparagraph 17.c, Hydrite shall submit a final certificate of completion. Hydrite shall certify to EPA that, to the signer's best knowledge and belief formed after reasonable inquiry: (i) except as otherwise identified, the Facility is in compliance with all applicable LDAR regulations and the LDAR Program; and (ii) Hydrite has completed all corrective action pursuant to a CAP. To the extent that Hydrite cannot make the certification in all respects, it shall specifically identify any deviations.

18. <u>Repair Program</u>. Commencing 180 Days after the Effective Date, Hydrite shall perform repairs to address any leaks from equipment in HAP Service above the thresholds described in this Paragraph during monitoring performed at the Facility, including leaks detected during the Annual Leak Detection required by Paragraph 19 in accordance with the following:

a. For all components except pumps and agitators, Hydrite must make a first attempt at repair within five days of detection for each leak that is 500 ppm above background, and must make a final repair within 15 days of detection, except for any components that require delay of repair.

b. For all pumps, Hydrite must make a first attempt at repair within five days of detection for each leak that is 2,000 ppm above background, and must make a final repair within 15 days of detection, except for any components that require delay of repair.

c. For agitators, Hydrite must make a first attempt at repair within five days of detection for each leak that is 2,000 ppm above background prior to EPA's approval of

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 16 of 69

the Demonstration Period Report. Following approval of the Demonstration Period Report, Hydrite must make a first attempt at repair within five days of detection for each leak at an agitator that is more than 10,000 ppm above background, and must make a final repair within 15 days of detection, except for any components that require delay of repair.

19. <u>Annual Leak Detection for Equipment in HAP Service</u>. Commencing in the first Calendar Quarter after completion of the LDAR Audit, completion of all corrective actions required by a Final CAP, and submittal of any final certification of completion required by Paragraphs 15-17, Hydrite shall begin conducting annual leak detection ("Annual Leak Detection") using EPA Method 21 – if not required more frequently by any Federal, State, or local standard – for components in HAP Service, including valves, connectors, pumps, agitators, instrumentation systems, open-ended lines, compressors, insulated valves subject to regulation under RCRA Subpart BB and/or NESHAP Subpart DD, and difficult-to-monitor ("DTM") equipment subject to regulation under RCRA Subpart BB and/or NESHAP Subpart DD to ensure emissions from such equipment are included in the total HAP(s) emissions calculation for the Facility. Hydrite shall also perform Annual Leak Detection for manways in HAP Service and for pressure relief devices that are in HAP Service but do not meet the definition of pressure relief devices under NESHAP Subpart DD or NESHAP Subpart H. In performing its Annual Leak Detection:

a. Hydrite shall conduct annual monitoring of HAP components that are classified as DTM that are required to be monitored annually under RCRA Subpart BB and/or NESHAP Subpart DD;

b. Hydrite can elect to monitor other DTM/unsafe-to-monitor components in HAP Service that are not otherwise required to be monitored; and

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 17 of 69

c. For fully insulated valves on equipment subject to regulation under RCRA Subpart BB and/or NESHAP Subpart DD, Hydrite shall ensure access to the valve stem for monitoring to comply with RCRA Subpart BB and/or NESHAP Subpart DD requirements. For other insulated valves, Hydrite shall conduct monitoring to the extent the valve stem is accessible.

B. Minor Source Demonstration

20. <u>Demonstration Period</u>. Within the first Calendar Quarter after completion of the LDAR Audit, completion of all corrective actions required by the Final CAP, and submittal of any final certification of completion required by Paragraphs 15-17, Hydrite shall begin conducting a twelve-month program to demonstrate that the Facility is a minor source of HAP emissions (the "Demonstration Period"), to ensure that: (i) all HAP emissions are included in the Facility's emissions calculations; and (ii) no single HAP emitted at the Facility equals or exceeds 10 tpy and combined emissions of HAPs do not equal or exceed 25 tpy. During the Demonstration Period, Hydrite will track and record all HAP emissions – on a monthly basis for twelve consecutive months – in accordance with the Minor Source Demonstration Requirements specified in Appendix B to this Consent Decree.

21. If emissions information obtained during the initial Demonstration Period at any point shows that emissions of a single HAP from the Facility were 10 tpy or more *or* combined emissions of HAPs from the Facility were 25 tpy or more, then Hydrite shall submit prompt written notice to EPA that Hydrite is electing one of the following options:

a. Hydrite shall immediately comply with the applicable major source NESHAP(s); *or*

b. Hydrite shall cease the initial Demonstration Period to attempt one additional twelve-month Demonstration Period in accordance with the Minor Source

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 18 of 69

Demonstration Requirements specified in Appendix B to this Consent Decree (a "Second Demonstration Period").

If emissions information obtained during a Second Demonstration Period at any point shows that emissions of a single HAP from the Facility were 10 tpy or more *or* combined emissions of HAPs from the Facility were 25 tpy or more, then Hydrite shall submit prompt written notice to EPA, and Hydrite shall immediately comply with applicable major source NESHAP(s).

22. <u>Demonstration Period Report</u>. If emissions information obtained during an initial Demonstration Period or a Second Demonstration Period shows that emissions of no single HAP emitted at the Facility equaled or exceeded 10 tons per year (tpy) and combined emissions of HAPs did not equal or exceed 25 tpy, then Hydrite shall submit a Demonstration Period Report within 90 Days after the end of the Demonstration Period. The Demonstration Period Report shall summarize the emissions monitoring and emissions estimation information obtained in the assessment, including relevant underlying data and calculations, consistent with the Minor Source Demonstration Requirements specified in Appendix B to this Consent Decree. The Demonstration Period Report shall be subject to U.S.EPA review and approval in accordance with Consent Decree Subsection V.E.

C. Other Compliance Requirements.

23. <u>Measuring VOC Emissions from Carbon Drums</u>. Whenever Hydrite is required to monitor VOC emissions from carbon drums under its Permits (including under Condition C.1.b.(2) of its Current Operation Permit), Hydrite shall use a flame ionization detector ("FID") for all chemicals that meet the response factor requirements of Section 8 of EPA Method 21. For other chemicals, Hydrite shall use another equivalent monitoring technology that complies with EPA Method 21.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 19 of 69

24. <u>Performance Test of South Scrubber</u>. By no later than 180 Days after the Effective Date, unless EPA agrees in writing to an extension of this date, Hydrite shall conduct a performance test on the South Scrubber in accordance with approved EPA Methods. At least 20 business days in advance of the scheduled test, Hydrite shall submit a test protocol to EPA for its approval. This protocol shall include the approved EPA Method(s) to be used and proposed operating conditions. EPA shall timely review and approve this test protocol consistent with the scheduled test date. The purpose of this performance test is to establish the control efficiency for the South Scrubber with a minimum water flow rate for parametric monitoring.

a. If the performance test demonstrates a control efficiency of 85% or greater, Hydrite shall incorporate the minimum water flow rate established by the performance test into a federally enforceable non-Title V permit for the Facility.

b. If the performance test demonstrates a control efficiency of less than 85%, Hydrite shall incorporate the control efficiency from the performance test and the minimum water flow rate established into a federally enforceable non-Title V permit for the Facility.

D. Incorporation of Requirements Into Federally Enforceable Permits

25. <u>Permits Needed to Meet Compliance Obligations</u>. If any compliance obligation under this Section V (Injunctive Relief) requires Hydrite to obtain a federal, state, or local permit or approval, Hydrite shall submit timely and complete applications and take all other actions necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals. Hydrite may seek relief under the provisions of Section VIII (Force Majeure) for any delay in the performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a delay in obtaining, any permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation, if Hydrite has submitted timely and complete applications and has taken all other actions necessary to obtain such permits or approvals.

26. Inclusion of Practically Enforceable Requirements in Operation Permits.

a. Prior to termination of this Consent Decree, Hydrite shall submit to State permitting authorities complete applications, amendments and/or supplements to incorporate as "applicable requirements" the limits, standards, and requirements listed in Subparagraph 26.b into the Facility's operation permit. If required by the final rule issued by EPA related to the Reclassification of Major Sources as Area Sources under Section 112 of the CAA, Hydrite shall submit an application to incorporate the items in Subparagraph 26.b into a non-Title V permit to ensure that those limits, standards, and requirements will survive termination of this Consent Decree.

b. The following emission limits, standards, and requirements shall be incorporated into permits in accordance with Subparagraph 26.a:

(1) The requirements concerning the LDAR Program Description andDaily Certification, in Paragraphs 12-13;

(2) The LDAR Repair Program and Annual Leak Detection requirements in Paragraphs 18-19;

(3) The requirement to comply with applicable major source NESHAP(s) under Paragraph 21 if emissions information obtained at any point shows that emissions of a single HAP from the Facility were 10 tpy or more or combined emissions of HAPs from the Facility were 25 tpy or more; and

(4) The requirement to: (i) sustain a minimum water flow rate in the South Scrubber as referenced in Subparagraph 24.a; or (ii) sustain a control efficiency and a minimum water flow rate determined in a performance test of the South Scrubber as referenced in Subparagraph 24.b.

E. Approval of Deliverables.

27. After submittal of any plan, report, or other item that is required to be submitted pursuant to this Consent Decree, EPA shall in writing: (a) approve the submission; (b) approve the submission upon specified conditions; (c) approve part of the submission and disapprove the remainder; or (d) disapprove the submission.

28. If the submission is approved pursuant to Paragraph 27, Hydrite shall take all actions required by the plan, report, or other document, in accordance with the schedules and requirements of the plan, report, or other document, as approved. If the submission is conditionally approved or approved only in part pursuant to Paragraph 27 (b) or (c), Hydrite shall, upon written direction from EPA, take all actions required by the approved plan, report, or other item that EPA determines are technically severable from any disapproved portions, subject to Hydrite's right to dispute only the specified conditions or the disapproved portions, under Section IX (Dispute Resolution).

29. If the submission is disapproved in whole or in part pursuant to Paragraph 27(c) or (d), Hydrite shall, within 45 Days or such other time as the Parties agree to in writing, correct all identified deficiencies and resubmit the plan, report, or other item, or the disapproved portion thereof, for approval, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs. If the resubmission is approved in whole or in part, Hydrite shall proceed in accordance with the preceding Paragraph.

30. If a resubmitted plan, report, or other item, or portion thereof, is disapproved in whole or in part, EPA may again require Hydrite to correct any deficiencies, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs, or may itself correct any deficiencies, subject to Hydrite's right to invoke Dispute Resolution and the right of EPA to seek stipulated penalties as provided in Paragraph 31 and Sections VII (Stipulated Penalties) and IX (Dispute Resolution).

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 22 of 69

31. Any stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission, as provided in Section VII, shall accrue during the 45-Day period or other specified period during which the original plan is being revised, but shall not be payable unless the resubmission is untimely or is disapproved in whole or in part; provided that, if the original submission was so deficient as to constitute a material breach of Hydrite's obligations under this Decree, the stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission shall be due and payable after receipt of a written demand in accordance with Paragraph 43 notwithstanding any subsequent resubmission.

VI. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

32. Hydrite shall submit semi-annual reports as provided by this Paragraph.

a. <u>Schedule for Submission of Semi-Annual Reports</u>. After the Effective Date of this Consent Decree until approval of the Demonstration Period Report, Hydrite shall submit semi-annual reports. The initial semi-annual report shall be due on either: (i) March 1 of the year after the Effective Date, if the Effective Date is between July 1 and December 31 of the preceding year; or (ii) September 1 of the year of the Effective Date, if the Effective Date is between January 1 and June 30. The initial report shall cover the period between the Effective Date and the end of the applicable reporting period (*e.g.*, if the Effective Date is September 15, the report shall be due on March 1 and cover the period between September 15 and December 31). Until approval of the Demonstration Period Report, each subsequent report shall be due on September 1 and March 1 and shall cover the half year period between either, respectively, January 1 and June 30 or July 1 and December 31.

b. <u>Report Contents</u>. Each report shall describe the status of any compliance measures required by Section V (Injunctive Relief) and any problems encountered or anticipated, together with implemented or proposed solutions. Each report shall attach

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 23 of 69

copies of any reports to the State of Wisconsin concerning any Permit deviations during the semi-annual reporting period. Each report shall also include a description of any violation of the requirements of this Consent Decree and an explanation of the violation's likely cause and of the remedial steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such violation. If the cause of a violation cannot be fully explained at the time the report is due, Hydrite shall so state in the report. Hydrite shall investigate the cause of the violation and shall then submit an amendment to the report, including a full explanation of the cause of the violation, within 30 Days of the day Hydrite becomes aware of the cause of the violation. Nothing in this Paragraph or the following Paragraph relieves Hydrite of its obligation to provide the notice required by Section VIII (Force Majeure).

33. Whenever any violation of this Consent Decree or a deviation from requirements of Hydrite's Permits, or any other event affecting Hydrite's performance under this Decree, may pose an immediate threat to the public health or welfare or the environment, Hydrite shall notify EPA orally or by electronic or facsimile transmission as soon as possible, but no later than the next business day after Hydrite first knew of the deviation or event. This procedure is in addition to the requirements set forth in the preceding Paragraph.

34. All reports shall be submitted to the persons designated in Section XIII (Notices).

35. Each report submitted by Hydrite under this Section shall be signed by an official of the submitting party and include the following certification:

I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I have no personal knowledge that the information submitted is other than true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 24 of 69

This certification requirement does not apply to emergency or similar notifications where compliance would be impractical.

36. The reporting requirements of this Consent Decree do not relieve Hydrite of any reporting obligations required by the CAA or implementing regulations, or by any other federal, state, or local law, regulation, permit, or other requirement.

37. Any information provided pursuant to this Consent Decree may be used by the United States in any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and as otherwise permitted by law.

VII. STIPULATED PENALTIES

38. Hydrite shall be liable for stipulated penalties to the United States for violations of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless excused under Section VIII (Force Majeure). A violation includes failing to perform any obligation required by the terms of this Decree, including any work plan or schedule approved under this Decree, according to applicable requirements of this Decree and within the specified time schedules established by or approved under this Decree.

39. <u>Late Payment of Civil Penalty</u>. If Hydrite fails to pay the civil penalty required to be paid under Section IV (Civil Penalty) when due, Hydrite shall pay a stipulated penalty of 0.10% of the unpaid principal amount per Day for each Day that the payment is late.

40. <u>Injunctive Relief</u>. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for each violation of the requirements identified in Section V (Injunctive Relief) and this Paragraph 40:

	Consent Decree Violation	Stipula	ted Penalty
a.	Violation of LDAR Program Description	Period of Delay or	
	Requirements. For failure to comply with	Non-Compliance	Penalty per Day
	any requirement of Paragraph 12.	Days 1–30	\$100
		Days 31–60	\$200
		Days 61 and later	\$500

	Consent Decree Violation	Stipulated Penalty	
b.	Violation of Daily Certification Requirements. For a monitoring technician's failure to complete a certification on the day monitoring occurred, as required by Paragraph 13.	\$100 per failure per technician.	
с.	Violation of QA/QC Requirements. For failure to comply with any requirement of Paragraph 14.	\$500 for each instance of non-compliance, not to exceed \$10,000 for the relevant Calendar Quarter	
d.	Violation of LDAR Audit Requirements. For failure to complete an LDAR Audit in accordance with the requirements of Paragraphs 15 and 16.	Period of Delay orNon-CompliancePenalty per DayDays 1–30\$300Days 31–60\$400Days 61 and later\$500	
e.	Violation of LDAR Audit Report and Corrective Action Plan Requirements. For failure to comply with any requirement of Paragraph 17.	Days of and meet\$500Period of Delay orNon-CompliancePenalty per DayDays 1–30\$500Days 31 and later\$1,000	
f.	Violation of Repair Program Requirements. (1) For failure to comply with any first attempt at repair requirement of Paragraph 18.	(1) \$150 per Day, per component, not to exceed \$1,500 per leaking component.	
	(2) For failure to comply with any final attempt at repair requirement of Paragraph 18.	 (2) For components other than pumps and agitators: \$300 per Day, per component, not exceed \$37,500 per leaking component. For pumps and agitators: \$1,200 per Day, per component, not to exceed \$150,000 per leaking component. 	
g.	Violation of Annual Leak Detection Requirements. For failure to comply with any requirement of Paragraph 19.	\$100 per component per missed monitoring event, not to exceed \$25,000 per 30-Day period per process unit.	
h.	Violation of Minor Source Demonstration Requirements. For failure to submit a Demonstration Period Report (as required by Paragraph 22) documenting compliance with all Demonstration Period requirements (as specified by Paragraph 20 and Subparagraph 21.b).	Period of Delay orNon-CompliancePenalty per DayDays 1–30\$500Days 31–60\$750Days 61 and later\$1,000	
i.	<u>Violation of Carbon Drum Monitoring</u> <u>Equipment Requirements</u> . For failure to monitor carbon drums for total VOC emissions as required by Paragraph 23	\$100 per Day, per carbon drum.	
j.	Violation of Requirements Regarding <u>Performance Test of South Scrubber</u> . For failure to complete a Performance Test as required by Paragraph 24.	Period of Delay orNon-CompliancePenalty per DayDays 1–30\$500Days 31–60\$750Days 61 and later\$1,000	

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 26 of 69

	Consent Decree Violation	Stipula	ted Penalty
k.	Violation of Permit Application	Period of Delay or	
	Requirements under Paragraph 26.	Non-Compliance	Penalty per Day
	For failure to submit an application for a	Days 1–30	\$500
	permit in accordance with the	Days 31–60	\$750
	requirements of Paragraph 26.	Days 61 and later	\$1,000

41. <u>Semi-Annual Reporting Requirements</u>. The following stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for each violation of the reporting requirements of Section VI:

Consent Decree Violation	Stipulated Penalty
Violation of Semi-Annual Report Requirements.	\$500 per Day for the first 30 Days of
For failure to submit a Semi-Annual Report as required	noncompliance; and \$1000 per Day
by Paragraph 32.	thereafter.

42. Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the Day after performance is due or on the Day a violation occurs, whichever is applicable, and shall continue to accrue until performance is satisfactorily completed or until the violation ceases. Stipulated penalties shall accrue simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree.

43. Hydrite shall pay any stipulated penalty within 30 Days of receiving the United States' written demand.

44. The United States may, in the unreviewable exercise of its discretion, reduce or waive stipulated penalties otherwise due it under this Consent Decree.

45. Stipulated penalties shall continue to accrue as provided in Paragraph 42 during any Dispute Resolution but need not be paid until the following:

a. If the dispute is resolved by agreement of the Parties or by a decision of EPA that is not appealed to the Court, Hydrite shall pay accrued penalties determined to be owing, together with interest, to the United States within 30 Days of the effective date of the agreement or the receipt of EPA's decision or order.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 27 of 69

b. If the dispute is appealed to the Court and the United States prevails in whole or in part, Hydrite shall pay all accrued penalties determined by the Court to be owing, together with interest, within 60 Days of receiving the Court's decision or order, except as provided in subparagraph c, below.

c. If any Party appeals the District Court's decision, Hydrite shall pay all accrued penalties determined to be owing, together with interest, within 15 Days of receiving the final appellate court decision.

46. Hydrite shall pay stipulated penalties owing to the United States in the manner set forth in and with the confirmation notices required by Paragraph 9, except that the transmittal letter shall state that the payment is for stipulated penalties and shall state for which violation(s) the penalties are being paid.

47. If Hydrite fails to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this Consent Decree, Hydrite shall be liable for interest on such penalties, as provided for in 28 U.S.C. § 1961, accruing as of the date payment became due. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to limit the United States from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for Defendant's failure to pay any stipulated penalties.

48. The payment of penalties and interest, if any, shall not alter in any way Hydrite's obligation to complete the performance of the requirements of this Consent Decree.

49. <u>Non-Exclusivity of Remedy</u>. Stipulated penalties are not the United States' exclusive remedy for violations of this Consent Decree, including for any non-compliance with Paragraph 21. Subject to the provisions of Section XI (Effect of Settlement/Reservation of Rights), the United States expressly reserves the right to seek any other relief it deems appropriate for Hydrite's violation of this Decree or applicable law, including but not limited to an action against Hydrite for statutory penalties, additional injunctive relief, mitigation or offset

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 28 of 69

measures, and/or contempt. However, the amount of any statutory penalty assessed for a violation of this Consent Decree shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of any stipulated penalty assessed and paid pursuant to this Consent Decree.

VIII. FORCE MAJEURE

50. "Force majeure," for purposes of this Consent Decree, is defined as any event arising from causes beyond the control of Hydrite, any entity controlled by Hydrite, or Hydrite's contractors, that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree despite Hydrite's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. The requirement that Hydrite exercise "best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate any potential force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any potential force majeure event (a) as it is occurring and (b) following the potential force majeure, such that the delay and any adverse effects of the delay are minimized. "Force Majeure" does not include Hydrite's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent Decree.

51. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree, for which Hydrite intends or may intend to assert a claim of Force Majeure, Hydrite shall provide notice by an electronic mail message to nelson.victoria@epa.gov and mcauliffe.mary@epa.gov within seven days of when Hydrite first knew that the event might cause a delay. Within 15 Days thereafter, Hydrite shall provide in writing to EPA an explanation and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Hydrite's rationale for attributing such delay to a force majeure event if it intends to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Hydrite, such event may cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 29 of 69

Hydrite shall include with any notice all available documentation supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a force majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Defendant from asserting any claim of force majeure for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply, and for any additional delay caused by such failure. Defendant shall be deemed to know of any circumstance of which Defendant, any entity controlled by Defendant, or Defendant's contractors knew or should have known.

52. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a force majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that are affected by the force majeure event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. EPA will notify Hydrite in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event.

53. If EPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a force majeure event, EPA will notify Hydrite in writing of its decision.

54. If Hydrite elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section IX (Dispute Resolution), it shall do so no later than 30 Days after receipt of EPA's notice. In any such proceeding, Hydrite shall have the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a force majeure event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was or will be warranted under the circumstances, that best efforts were exercised to avoid and mitigate the effects of the delay, and that Hydrite complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 50 and 51. If Hydrite carries this burden, the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a violation by Hydrite of the affected obligation of this Consent Decree.

IX. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

55. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes arising under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Hydrite's failure to seek resolution of a dispute under this Section shall preclude Hydrite from raising any such issue as a defense to an action by the United States to enforce any obligation of Hydrite arising under this Decree.

56. <u>Informal Dispute Resolution</u>. Any dispute subject to Dispute Resolution under this Consent Decree shall first be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when Hydrite sends the United States a written Notice of Dispute. Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute. The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed 21 Days from the date the dispute arises, unless that period is modified by written agreement. If the Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, then the position advanced by the United States shall be considered binding unless, within 90 Days after the conclusion of the informal negotiation period, Hydrite invokes formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.

57. <u>Formal Dispute Resolution</u>. Hydrite shall invoke formal dispute resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph, by serving on the United States a written Statement of Position regarding the matter in dispute. The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting Hydrite's position and any supporting documentation relied upon by Hydrite.

58. The United States shall serve its Statement of Position within 45 Days of receipt of Hydrite's Statement of Position. The United States' Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting that position and any supporting documentation relied upon by the United States. The United States' Statement of

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 31 of 69

Position shall be binding on Hydrite, unless Hydrite files a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with the following Paragraph.

59. Hydrite may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Court and serving on the United States, in accordance with Section XIII (Notices), a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within 30 Days of receipt of the United States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of Hydrite's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent Decree.

60. The United States shall respond to Hydrite's motion within the time period allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Hydrite may file a reply memorandum, to the extent permitted by the Local Rules.

61. <u>Standard of Review</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any dispute brought under Paragraph 57, Hydrite shall have the burden of demonstrating that its position complies with this Consent Decree, and that Hydrite is entitled to relief under applicable principles of law. The United States reserves the right to argue that its position is reviewable only on the administrative record and must be upheld unless arbitrary and capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

62. The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section shall not, by itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of Hydrite under this Consent Decree, unless and until final resolution of the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with respect to the disputed matter shall continue to accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but payment shall be stayed pending resolution of the dispute as provided in Paragraph 45. If

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 32 of 69

Hydrite does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be assessed and paid as provided in Section VII (Stipulated Penalties).

X. INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION

63. The United States and its representatives, including attorneys, contractors, and consultants, shall have the right of entry into any facility covered by this Consent Decree, at all reasonable times, upon presentation of credentials, to:

a. monitor the progress of activities required under this Consent Decree;

b. verify any data or information submitted to the United States or the State in accordance with the terms of this Consent Decree or the Permits;

c. obtain samples and, upon request, splits of any samples taken by Hydrite or its representatives, contractors, or consultants;

d. obtain documentary evidence, including photographs and similar data; and

e. assess Hydrite's compliance with this Consent Decree.

64. Upon request, Hydrite shall provide EPA or its authorized representatives splits of any samples taken by Hydrite. Upon request, EPA shall provide Hydrite splits of any samples taken by EPA.

65. Until two years after the termination of this Consent Decree, Hydrite shall retain, and shall instruct its contractors and agents to preserve, all non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information (including documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, and that relate in any manner to Hydrite's performance of its obligations under this Consent Decree. This information-retention requirement shall apply regardless of any contrary corporate or institutional policies or procedures. At any time during this information-retention period, upon request by the United

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 33 of 69

States, Hydrite shall provide copies of any documents, records, or other information required to be maintained under this Paragraph.

66. Hydrite may assert that certain documents, records, or other information is privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Hydrite asserts such a privilege, it shall provide the following: (a) the title of the document, record, or information; (b) the date of the document, record, or information; (c) the name and title of each author of the document, record, or information; (d) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (e) a description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and (f) the privilege asserted by Hydrite. However, no documents, records, or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Consent Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege.

67. Hydrite may also assert that information required to be provided under this Section is protected as Confidential Business Information ("CBI") under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to any information that Hydrite seeks to protect as CBI, Hydrite shall follow the procedures set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2.

68. This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry and inspection, or any right to obtain information, held by the United States or the State pursuant to applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or permits, nor does it limit or affect any duty or obligation of Hydrite to maintain documents, records, or other information imposed by applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or permits.

XI. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS

69. This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States for the violations alleged in the Complaint filed in this action through the Date of Lodging. This

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 34 of 69

Consent Decree also resolves the potential civil claims of the United States for the violations alleged in the EPA Violation Notice through the Date of Lodging.

70. The United States reserves all legal and equitable remedies available to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to limit the rights of the United States to obtain penalties or injunctive relief under the CAA or implementing regulations, or under other federal or state laws, regulations, or permit conditions. The United States further reserves all legal and equitable remedies to address any imminent and substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment arising at, or posed by, the Facility, whether related to the violations addressed in this Consent Decree or otherwise.

71. In any subsequent administrative or judicial proceeding initiated by the United States for injunctive relief, civil penalties, other appropriate relief relating to the Facility, Hydrite shall not assert, and may not maintain, any defense or claim based upon the principles of waiver, res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, claim-splitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims raised by the United States in the subsequent proceeding were or should have been brought in the instant case, except with respect to claims that have been specifically resolved pursuant to Paragraph 69.

72. This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any permit, under any federal, state, or local laws or regulations. Hydrite is responsible for achieving and maintaining compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and permits; and Hydrite's compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulations, or permits, except as set forth herein. The United States does not, by its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any manner that Hydrite's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will result in compliance with

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 35 of 69

provisions of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq., or with any other provisions of federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or permits.

73. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Hydrite or of the United States against any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, nor does it limit the rights of third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, against Hydrite, except as otherwise provided by law.

74. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree.

XII. COSTS

75. The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including attorneys' fees, except that the United States shall be entitled to collect the costs (including attorneys' fees) incurred in any action necessary to collect any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Hydrite.

XIII. NOTICES

76. Unless otherwise specified in this Decree, whenever notifications, submissions, or communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall be made in writing and addressed as follows:

As to the United States by email:	eescdcopy.enrd@usdoj.gov
	Re: DJ # 90-5-2-1-12229
As to the United States by mail:	EES Case Management Unit
	Environment and Natural Resources Division
	U.S. Department of Justice
	P.O. Box 7611
	Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
	Re: DJ # 90-5-2-1-12229
As to EPA by email:	r5airenforcement@epa.gov mcauliffe.mary@epa.gov

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 36 of 69

As to Hydrite:

Thadd Stankowski General Counsel Hydrite Chemical Company 300 N. Patrick Blvd Brookfield, WI 53045 legal@hydrite.com

Tom Miazga Executive Director of SQRA Hydrite Chemical Company 300 N. Patrick Blvd Brookfield, WI 53045

77. Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, change its designated notice recipient or notice address provided above.

78. Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted upon mailing, electronically or otherwise, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by mutual agreement of the Parties in writing.

XIV. EFFECTIVE DATE

79. The Effective Date of this Consent Decree shall be the date upon which this Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court's docket.

XV. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

80. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of this Consent Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or entering orders modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections IX and XVI, or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree.

XVI. MODIFICATION

81. The terms of this Consent Decree, including any attached appendices, may be modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties. Where the
Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 37 of 69

modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon approval by the Court.

82. Any disputes concerning modification of this Decree shall be resolved pursuant to Section IX (Dispute Resolution), provided, however, that, instead of the burden of proof provided by Paragraph 61, the Party seeking the modification bears the burden of demonstrating that it is entitled to the requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b).

XVII. TERMINATION

83. After Hydrite has completed the requirements of Section V (Injunctive Relief), has maintained continuous satisfactory compliance with this Consent Decree for at least 24 months, and has paid the civil penalty and any accrued stipulated penalties as required by this Consent Decree, Hydrite may serve upon the United States a Request for Termination, stating that Hydrite has satisfied those requirements, together with all necessary supporting documentation.

84. Following receipt by the United States of Hydrite's Request for Termination, the Parties shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that the Parties may have as to whether Hydrite has satisfactorily complied with the requirements for termination of this Consent Decree. If the United States agrees that the Decree may be terminated, the Parties shall submit, for the Court's approval, a joint stipulation terminating the Decree.

85. If the United States does not agree that the Decree may be terminated, Hydrite may invoke Dispute Resolution under Section IX. However, Hydrite shall not seek Dispute Resolution of any dispute regarding termination until at least 90 Days after service of its Request for Termination.

35

XVIII. 26 U.S.C. § 126(f)(2)(A)(ii) IDENTIFICATION

86. For purposes of the identification requirement of Section 162(f)(2)(A)(ii) of the
Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(f)(2)(A)(ii), performance of Section II (Applicability),
Paragraph 4; Section V (Injunctive Relief), Paragraphs 12-27; Section VI (Reporting
Requirements), Paragraphs 32 and 34-35; and Section X (Information Collection and Retention),
Paragraphs 63-66, is restitution or required to come into compliance with law.

XIX. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

87. This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Court for a period of not less than 30 Days for public notice and comment in accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 50.7. The United States reserves the right to withdraw or withhold its consent if the comments regarding the Consent Decree disclose facts or considerations indicating that the Consent Decree is inappropriate, improper, or inadequate. Hydrite consents to entry of this Consent Decree without further notice and agrees not to withdraw from or oppose entry of this Consent Decree by the Court or to challenge any provision of the Decree, unless the United States has notified Hydrite in writing that it no longer supports entry of the Decree.

XX. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE

88. Each undersigned representative of Hydrite and the Environment and Natural Resources Division of the Department of Justice certifies that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and to execute and legally bind the Party he or she represents to this document.

89. This Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not be challenged on that basis. Hydrite agrees to accept service of process by mail with respect to all matters arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any

36

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 39 of 69

applicable Local Rules of this Court including, but not limited to, service of a summons. Hydrite need not file an answer to the complaint in this action unless or until the Court expressly declines to enter this Consent Decree.

XXI. INTEGRATION

90. This Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in the Decree and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, concerning the settlement embodied herein. Other than deliverables that are subsequently submitted and approved pursuant to this Decree, the Parties acknowledge that there are no representations, agreements, or understandings relating to the settlement other than those expressly contained in this Consent Decree.

XXII. APPENDICES

91. The following Appendices are attached to and part of this Consent Decree:
"<u>Appendix A</u>" is the June 2017 Notice of Violation and Finding of Violation issued to
Hydrite by EPA; and

"<u>Appendix B</u>" is the Minor Source Demonstration Requirements.

XXIII. FINAL JUDGMENT

92. Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Consent Decree shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United States, the State, and Hydrite. The Court finds that there is no just reason for delay and therefore enters this judgment as a final judgment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 54 and 58. Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 40 of 69

Dated and entered this _____ day of _____, 20___.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Signature Page for Consent Decree in United States v. Hydrite Chemical Co. (W.D. Wis.)

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

KAREN S. DWORKIN Deputy Chief Environmental Enforcement Section Environment and Natural Resources Division U.S. Department of Justice

RANDALL STONE Digitally signed by RANDALL STONE Date: 2020.10.13 15:29:02 -04'00'

RANDALL M. STONE Senior Attorney Environmental Enforcement Section U.S. Department of Justice P.O. Box 7611 Washington, DC 20044-7611 Tel. No.: (202) 514-1308 Fax No.: (202) 616-6584 E-mail: randall.stone@usdoj.gov

SCOTT C. BLADER United States Attorney Western District of Wisconsin

LESLIE K. HERJE Assistant United States Attorney Western District of Wisconsin 222 West Washington Ave., Suite 700 Madison, WI 53703 Tel. No.: (608) 264-5158

Date

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 42 of 69

Signature Page for Consent Decree in United States v. Hydrite Chemical Co. (W.D. Wis.)

FOR THE U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY:

T. Leverett Nelson Digitally signed by T. Leverett Nelson Date: 2020.09.29 14:05:30 -05'00'

T. LEVERETT NELSON Regional Counsel U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 5 Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 43 of 69

Signature Page for Consent Decree in United States v. Hydrite Chemical Co. (W.D. Wis.)

FOR HYDRITE CHEMICAL CO.

<u>7/22/2020</u> Date

Thadd Stankowski

General Counsel

Appendix A: June 2017 Notice of Violation and Finding of Violation





REGION 5 77 WEST JACKSON BOULEVARD CHICAGO, IL 60604-3590

JUN 3 0 2017

REPLY TO THE ATTENTION OF:

<u>CERTIFIED MAIL</u> <u>RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED</u>

Jim Maderski, Operations Manager Hydrite Chemical Company 114 N Main Street Cottage Grove, Wisconsin 53527

Re: Notice and Finding of Violation Hydrite Chemical Co. Cottage Grove, Wisconsin

Dear Mr. Maderski:

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency is issuing the enclosed Notice and Finding of Violation (FOV) to Hydrite Chemical Co. (you) under Section 113(a)(1) and (a)(3) of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(1) and (a)(3). We find that you are violating the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) for Off-Site Waste and Recovery Operations, at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD; the NESHAP for Miscellaneous Organic Chemical Production and Processes at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart FFFF; the NESHAP for Organic Liquids Distribution (Non-Gasoline) at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart EEEE; and your federally enforceable Construction and Operation permits at the facility located in Cottage Grove, Wisconsin.

Section 113 of the Clean Air Act gives us several enforcement options. These options include issuing an administrative compliance order, issuing an administrative penalty order and bringing a judicial civil or criminal action.

We are offering you an opportunity to confer with us about the violations alleged in the FOV. The conference will give you an opportunity to present information on the specific findings of violation, any efforts you have taken to comply and the steps you will take to prevent future violations. In addition, in order to make the conference more productive, we encourage you to submit to us information responsive to the FOV prior to the conference date.

Please plan for your facility's technical and management personnel to attend the conference to discuss compliance measures and commitments. You may have an attorney represent you at this conference.

The EPA contact in this matter is Victoria Nelson. You may contact her at (312) 886-9481 or <u>nelson.victoria@epa.gov</u> to request a conference. You should make the request within 10 calendar days following receipt of this letter. We should hold any conference within 30 calendar days following receipt of this letter.

Sincerely,

Try for Edward Nam

Director Air and Radiation Division

Enclosure

cc: Dave Welsh, Environmental, Health & Safety Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. dave.welsh@hydrite.com

> Ken Yass, Technical Regulatory Services Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. ken.yass@hydrite.com

Joy Warborg, Associate Environmental Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. joy.warborg@hydrite.com

Maria Hill, Chief, Compliance, Enforcement, and Emission Inventory Section State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Maria.Hill@wisconsin.gov

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION 5

IN THE MATTER OF:)
Hydrite Chemical Co.)) NOTICE AND FINDING OF
Cottage Grove, Wisconsin) VIOLATION
) EPA-5-17-WI-03
Proceedings Pursuant to)
the Clean Air Act,)
42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.)
) .

NOTICE AND FINDING OF VIOLATION

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) finds that Hydrite Chemical Co. (Hydrite) is violating the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401-7671q (CAA or the Act) at the facility located at 114 N Main Street Cottage Grove, Wisconsin (Facility). The relevant statutory and regulatory background, factual background, finding of violations, and environmental impact of these violations are set forth in detail below.

Statutory and Regulatory Authority

National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants

- Section 112 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412, requires the EPA to promulgate a list of all categories and subcategories of new and existing "major sources" and "area sources" of hazardous air pollutants (HAP) and establish emissions standards for the categories and subcategories. These emission standards are known as the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP). The EPA codified these standards at 40 C.F.R. Parts 61 and 63.
- 2. "Major source" is defined as "any stationary source or group of stationary sources located within a contiguous area and under common control that emits or has the potential to emit considering controls, in the aggregate, 10 tons per year or more of any hazardous air pollutant or 25 tons per year or more of any combination of hazardous air pollutants." 42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(1).
- 3. "Area source" is defined as "any stationary source of hazardous air pollutants that is not a major source." 42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(2).
- 4. "Stationary source" is defined as "any building, structure, facility, or installation, which emits or may emit any air pollutant." 42 U.S.C. § 7411(a)(3).
- 5. "Hazardous air pollutant" is defined as "any air pollutant listed in or pursuant to" Section 112(b) of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(6).

- 6. Section 112(i)(3) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(i)(3), prohibits any person subject to a NESHAP from operating a source in violation of a NESHAP after its effective date. See also 40 C.F.R. §§ 61.05 and 63.4.
- 7. The NESHAP, at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart A, contain general provisions applicable to the owner or operator of any stationary source that contains an affected facility subject to the NESHAP at Part 63. These include definitions at 40 C.F.R. § 63.2.
- 8. The NESHAP, at 40 C.F.R. § 63.2, defines "existing source" as any affected source that is not a new source.
- 9. The NESHAP, at 40 C.F.R. § 63.2, defines "new source" any affected source the construction or reconstruction of which is commenced after EPA first proposes a relevant emission standard under 40 C.F.R. Part 63 establishing an emission standard applicable to such source.
- 10. The NESHAP, at 40 C.F.R. § 63.2, defines "fugitive emissions" as those emissions from a stationary source that could not reasonably pass through a stack, chimney, vent, or other functionally equivalent opening. Under Section 112 of the Act, all fugitive emissions are to be considered in determining whether a stationary source is a major source

The NESHAP for Off-Site Waste and Recovery Operations at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD

- 11. Pursuant to Section 112 of the Act, the EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Off-Site Waste and Recovery Operations (NESHAP Subpart DD) at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD, 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.680 63.698, on July 1, 1996. 61 *Fed. Reg.* 34158.
- 12. The NESHAP Subpart DD applies to the owner and operator of a plant site that is a major source of HAP emissions, and a waste management operation that receives "off-site material" and is regulated as a hazardous waste treatment, storage, and disposal facility (TSDF) under either 40 C.F.R. part 264 or 265. 40 C.F.R. § 63.680(a) and (b)(1).
- 13. Except under limited circumstances that do not apply here, an "off-site material" under the NESHAP Subpart DD is: (1) a waste, used oil, or used solvent, as those terms are defined in 40 C.F.R. § 63.681; (2) that is not produced or generated within the plant site and is delivered, transferred, or otherwise moved to the plant site from an outside location; and (3) contains one or more of the HAP listed in Table 1 of the NESHAP Subpart DD. 40 C.F.R. § 63.680(b)(1).
- 14. An "affected source" under the NESHAP Subpart DD is the entire group of off-site material management units associated with the operation. An off-site material management unit is a tank, container, oil-water separator, organic-water separator, or transfer system used to manage off-site material. 40 C.F.R. § 63.680(c).
- 15. The owner or operator must control air emissions from the off-site material management unit in accordance with the applicable standards specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.685 - 63.689. 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(b).

- 16. At all times, the owner or operator must operate and maintain any affected source, including associated air pollution control equipment and monitoring equipment, in a manner consistent with safety and good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions. 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(e).
- 17. A deviation includes any instance in which an affected source, or an owner or operator of an affected source, fails to meet any requirement or obligation established by the NESHAP Subpart DD. 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(f).
- 18. The owner or operator shall submit a summary report specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.10(e)(3) on a semiannual basis (i.e., once every 6-month period). The summary report must include a description of all deviations as defined in 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.683(f) and 63.695(e) that have occurred during the 6-month reporting period. 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(b)(4).
- 19. For an affected tank at an existing source that is not used for a waste stabilization process, the owner or operator shall determine whether the tank is required to use either Tank Level 1 controls or Tank Level 2 controls as specified by Table 3 of the NESHAP Subpart DD based on the off-site material maximum HAP vapor pressure and the tank's design capacity. 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(b)(1)(i).
- 20. The owner or operator shall control air emissions from a tank using Tank Level 1 controls in accordance with the provisions specified in the NESHAP for Tanks Level 1 (NESHAP Subpart OO) at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart OO, 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.900 63.908. 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(c)(2)(i).
- 21. A "closure device" is defined as a cap, hatch, lid, plug, seal, valve, or other type of fitting that prevents or reduces air pollutant emissions to the atmosphere by blocking an opening in a cover when the device is secured in the closed position. 40 C.F.R. § 63.681.
- 22. A "closed-vent system" is defined as a system that is not open to the atmosphere and is composed of hard-piping, ductwork, connections, and, if necessary, fans, blowers, or other flow-inducing devices that conveys gas or vapor from an emission point to a control device. 40 C.F.R. § 63.681.
- 23. "Bypass" means diverting a process vent or closed vent system stream to the atmosphere such that it does not first pass through an emission control device. 40 C.F.R. § 63.681.
- 24. The owner or operator who controls tank air emissions by venting through a closed-vent system to a control device shall meet the requirements specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(g)(1) through (3), 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(g).
- 25. 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(g)(1)(ii) provides that each opening in the fixed roof not vented to the control device shall be equipped with a closure device. If the pressure in the vapor headspace underneath the fixed roof is equal to or greater than atmospheric pressure when the control device is operating, the closure device shall be designed to operate with no detectable organic emissions.

- 26. 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(g)(1)(iv) states that the closed-vent system and control device shall be designed and operated in accordance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.693.
- 27. The owner or operator using a closed-vent system to control air emissions in accordance with the NESHAP Subpart DD must meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c). 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(a).
- 28. 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(1) provides that the vent stream required to be controlled shall be conveyed to the control device by either (i) a closed-vent system that is designed to operate with no detectable organic emissions using the procedure specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(k); or (ii) a closed-vent system that is designed to operate at a pressure below atmospheric pressure.
- 29. 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(2) provides that in situations when the closed-vent system includes bypass devices that could be used to divert a vent stream from the closed-vent system to the atmosphere at a point upstream of the control device inlet, each bypass device must be equipped with either a flow indicator or a seal or locking device as specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(2)(ii).
- 30. 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(2)(ii) provides that if a seal or locking device is used to comply with 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(2) of this section, the device shall be placed on the mechanism by which the bypass device position is controlled (e.g., valve handle, damper lever) when the bypass device is in the closed position such that the bypass device cannot be opened without breaking the seal or removing the lock.
- 31. The owner or operator must inspect and monitor the closed-vent system for compliance in accordance with the procedures specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(c). 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(a)(2).
- 32. 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(c)(1)(ii)(A) provides that closed-vent system joints, seams, or other connections that are permanently or semi-permanently sealed (e.g., a welded joint between two sections of hard piping or a bolted and gasketed ducting flange) shall be visually inspected at least once per year to check for defects that could result in air emissions. The owner or operator shall monitor a component or connection using the procedures specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(k) of this subpart to demonstrate that it operates with no detectable organic emissions following any time the component is repaired or replaced (e.g., a section of damaged hard piping is replaced with new hard piping) or the connection is unsealed (e.g., a flange is unbolted).
- 33. 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(c)(1)(ii)(B) provides that closed-vent system components or connections other than those specified in Paragraph 32 shall be monitored at least once per year using the procedures specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(k) to demonstrate that components or connections operate with no detectable organic emissions.
- 34. 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(c)(1)(ii)(D) provides that the owner or operator shall visually inspect the seal or closure mechanism required by 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c)(2)(ii) at least once every month to verify that the bypass mechanism is maintained in the closed position.

- 35. The owner or operator shall maintain a record of the closed-vent system inspection and monitoring in accordance with the requirements specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.696. 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(c)(1)(iv).
- 36. 40 C.F.R. § 63.688(b)(1)(i) provides that an owner or operator must control air emissions from an affected container having a design capacity greater than 0.1 m³ and less than or equal to 0.46 m³ in accordance with the standards for Container Level 1 controls as specified in the National Emission Standards for Containers (NESHAP Subpart PP) at 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.920 63.929.
- 37. 40 C.F.R. § 63.688(b)(1)(ii) provides that, as an alternative to 40 C.F.R. § 63.688(b)(1)(i), an owner or operator may choose to control air emissions from an affected container having a design capacity greater than 0.1 m³ and less than or equal to 0.46 m³ in accordance with the standards for Container Level 2 controls as specified in the NESHAP Subpart PP.
- 38. 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(d) provides that the owner or operator must control equipment leaks from each equipment component that is part of the affected source by implementing leak detection and control measures in accordance with the standards specified in 40 C.F.R. § 63.691.
- 39. The NESHAP Subpart DD requires owners or operators to control air emissions from equipment leaks by utilizing one of the following options: (i) controlling HAP emitted from equipment leaks in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-61.247; or (ii) controlling HAP emitted from equipment leaks in accordance with 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.162-63.182. 40 C.F.R § 63.691(b).
- 40. The owner or operator must achieve the following performance specifications at the vapor incinerator control device: destroy the total organic compounds (TOC), less methane and ethane, contained in the vent stream entering the vapor incinerator by 95 percent or more, on a weight-basis. 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(f)(1).
- 41. The owner or operator must demonstrate that the vapor incinerator achieves the performance requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(f)(1) by conducting performance testing in accordance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(1). 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(f)(2).
- 42. 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(1) states that performance tests shall be based on representative performance (i.e. performance based on normal operating conditions). The owner or operator must record the process information that is necessary to document operating conditions during the test and include in such record an explanation to support that such conditions represent normal operation.
- 43. 40 C.F.R. § 63.694(1)(1)(i) provides that to determine compliance with the control equipment percent reduction requirement, sampling sites shall be located at the inlet of the control device, and at the outlet of the control device. The control device inlet sampling site shall be located after the final product recovery device, and shall be selected to ensure that the measurement of total HAP concentration or TOC concentration includes all vent streams and primary and secondary fuels introduced into the boiler or process heater.

The NESHAP for Tanks - Level 1 at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart OO

- 44. Pursuant to Section 112(d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d), EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Tanks Level 1 at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart OO, 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.900 63.908, on July 1, 1996. 61 *Fed. Reg.* 34184.
- 45. 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(b)(3) provides that each opening in the fixed roof, and any manifold system associated with the fixed roof shall be either: (i) equipped with a closure device designed to operate such that when the closure device is secured in the closed position there are no visible cracks, holes, gaps, or other open spaces in the closure device or between the perimeter of the opening and the closure device; or (ii) connected by a closed-vent system that is vented to a control device, where the control device shall remove or destroy organics in the vent stream, and shall be operating whenever regulated material is managed in the tank.
- 46. 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(c) provides that whenever a regulated material is in the tank, the fixed roof shall have each closure device secured in the closed position except during specific events such as accessing the tank to conduct routine maintenance and repairs and removing accumulated sludge or other residues from the bottom of the tank.
- 47. 40 C.F.R. § 63.906(a)(1) provides that the fixed roof and its closure devices shall be visually inspected by the owner or operator to check for defects that could result in air emissions.
- 48. The owner or operator must perform an initial inspection following installation of the fixed roof. Thereafter, the owner or operator must perform the inspections at least once every calendar year. 40 C.F.R. § 63.906(a)(2).

The NESHAP for Containers at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart PP

- 49. Pursuant to Section 112(d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d), EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Containers at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart PP, 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.920 63.929, on July 1, 1996. 61 *Fed. Reg.* 34186.
- 50. 40 C.F.R. § 63.922(d) provides that whenever a regulated material is in a container using Container Level 1 controls, the owner or operator shall install all covers and closure devices for the container, and secure and maintain each closure device in the closed position except during specific events such as filling the container, removing material, or performing routine activities.
- 51. 40 C.F.R. § 63.923(d) provides that whenever a regulated material is in a container using Container Level 2 controls, the owner or operator shall install all covers and closure devices for the container, and secure and maintain each closure device in the closed position except during specific events such as filling the container, removing material, or performing routine activities.

The NESHAP for Equipment Leaks at 40 C.F.R. Part 61. Subpart V

- 52. Pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412, EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Equipment Leaks at 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart V, 40 C.F.R. §§ 61.240 61.247, on June 6, 1984. 49 Fed. Reg. 23513.
- 53. As of June 6, 1984, the NESHAP Subpart V applies to each of the following sources that are intended to operate in volatile hazardous air pollutant (VHAP) service: pumps, compressors, pressure relief devices, sampling connection systems, open-ended valves or lines, valves, connectors, surge control vessels, bottoms receivers, and control devices or systems required by Subpart V. See 40 C.F.R. § 61.240(a).
- 54. 40 C.F.R. § 61.241 defines "volatile hazardous air pollutant or VHAP" to mean a substance regulated by 40 C.F.R. Part 61 for which a standard for equipment leaks of the substance has been promulgated.
- 55. 40 C.F.R. § 61.241 defines "in VHAP service" to mean that a piece of equipment either contains or contacts a fluid (liquid or gas) that is at least 10 percent by weight a volatile hazardous air pollutant.
- 56. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-1(d) requires that each piece of affected equipment be marked in such a manner that it can be distinguished readily from other pieces of equipment.
- 57. 40 C.F.R. § 61.241 defines "in vacuum service" to mean that equipment is operating at an internal pressure which is at least 5 kilopascals (kPa) (0.7 psia) below ambient pressure.
- 58. 40 C.F.R. § 61.246(e)(5) provides that a list of identification numbers for equipment in vacuum service shall be recorded in a log that is kept in a readily accessible location.
- 59. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-2(a)(1) requires that each pump be monitored monthly to detect leaks by the methods specified in 40 C.F.R. § 61.245(b).
- 60. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-2(a)(2) states that each pump shall be checked by visual inspection each calendar week for indications of liquids dripping from the pump seal.
- 61. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-2(b)(1) and (2) defines a detected leak at a pump as an instrument reading of 10,000 ppm or greater, and/or indications of liquids dripping from the pump seal.
- 62. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-6(a)(1) and (2) provide that each open-ended valve or line shall be equipped with a cap, blind flange, plug, or a second valve which shall seal the open end at all times except during operations requiring process fluid flow through the open-ended valve or line.
- 63. 40 C.F.R. § 61.242-8(a) provides that if evidence of a potential leak is found by visual, audible, olfactory, or any other detection method at pressure relief devices in liquid service, the owner or operator shall monitor the equipment within 5 days, or shall eliminate the visual, audible, olfactory, or other indication of a potential leak.

64. 40 C.F.R. § 242-8(b) provides that a leak is detected at a pressure relief device in liquid service if an instrument reading of 10,000 ppm or greater is measured.

The NESHAP for Miscellaneous Organic Chemical Production and Processes at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart FFFF

- 65. On November 10, 2003, EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Miscellaneous Organic Chemical Manufacturing (MON), codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart FFFF. 68 Fed. Reg. 63888. The NESHAP for MON establishes emission standards, requirements to demonstrate initial and continuous compliance with emission limits, operating limits, work practice standards, and recordkeeping requirements associated with miscellaneous organic chemical manufacturing. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.2430.
- 66. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2445(b) provides that owners and operators of existing sources subject to the MON must comply with the requirements for existing sources no later than May 10, 2008.
- 67. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2435(a) provides that owners and operators are subject to the MON if they operate miscellaneous organic chemical manufacturing process units (MCPU) that are located at, or are part of, a major source of HAP emissions as defined in Section 112(a) of the CAA.
- 68. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2550 defines "miscellaneous organic chemical manufacturing process" as all equipment which collectively functions to produce a product or isolated intermediate that is "material" described in 40 C.F.R. § 63.2435(b). Process includes any, all or a combination of reaction, recovery, separation, purification, or other activity, operation, manufacture, or treatment which are used to produce a product or isolated intermediate.
- 69. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2435(b) provides that a MCPU includes equipment necessary to operate a miscellaneous organic chemical manufacturing process that, among other things, processes, uses or generates any of the organic HAPs listed in Section 112(b) of the Act. A MCPU also includes any assigned storage tanks and transfer racks; equipment in open systems that is used to convey or store water having the same concentration and flow characteristics as wastewater; and equipment such as pumps, compressors, agitators, pressure relief devices, sampling connection systems, open ended valves or lines, valves, connectors, and instrumentation systems that are used to manufacture any material or family, including but not limited to an organic chemical with an SIC code listed in 40 C.F.R. § 63.2435(b)(1)(i).
- 70. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2550 defines "in organic HAP service" to mean a piece of equipment that either contains or contacts a fluid (liquid or gas) that is at least 5 percent by weight of total organic as determined according to Method 18 of 40 C.F.R. Part 60, Appendix A. See also 40 C.F.R. § 63.180(d)(1).
- 71. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2480 and Table 6 list the requirements for leaks for equipment that is in organic HAP service, and includes the standards set forth in the NESHAP for Organic Hazardous Air Pollutants for Equipment Leaks (HON) at 40 C.F.R. Part 63 Subpart H.

72. The HON, at 40 C.F.R. § 63.169(b), provides that a leak is detected if an instrument reading of 10,000 parts per million (ppm) or greater for agitators, 5,000 ppm or greater for pumps handling polymerizing monomers, 2,000 ppm or greater for all other pumps (including pumps in food/medical service), or 500 ppm or greater for valves, connectors, instrumentation systems, and pressure relief devices is measured.

The NESHAP for Organic Liquid Distribution at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart EEEE

- 73. On February 3, 2004, EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Organic Liquids Distribution (Non-Gasoline) (NESHAP Subpart EEEE), codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart EEEE. 69 *Fed. Reg.* 5063. The NESHAP Subpart EEEE establishes emission standards, requirements to demonstrate initial and continuous compliance with emission limits, operating limits, work practice standards, and recordkeeping requirements associated with non-gasoline organic liquid distribution. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.2330.
- 74. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2342(b)(1) provides that owners and operators of existing sources subject to the NESHAP Subpart EEEE must comply with the requirements for existing sources no later than February 5, 2007.
- 75. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2334(a) provides that owners and operators are subject to the NEHSAP Subpart EEEE if they operate an organic liquids distribution operation that is located at, or are part of, a major source of HAP emissions as defined in Section 112(a) of the CAA.
- 76. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2406 defines "organic liquids distribution operation" as the combination of activities and equipment used to store or transfer organic liquids into, out of, or within a plant site regardless of the specific activity being performed. Activities include, but are not limited to, storage, transfer, blending, compounding, and packaging.
- 77. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2338(b) provides that an affected source is composed of all storage tanks storing organic liquids; all transfer racks at which organic liquids are loaded into or unloaded out of transport vehicles and/or containers; and all equipment leak components in organic liquids service that are associated with storage tanks storing organic liquids, transfer racks loading or unloading organic liquids, pipelines that transfer organic liquids directly between two storage tanks that are subject to this subpart, pipelines that transfer organic liquids directly between a storage tank subject to this subpart and a transfer rack subject to this subpart, pipelines that transfer racks subject to this subpart, all transport vehicles while they are loading or unloading organic liquids at transfer racks subject to this subpart, and all containers while they are loading or unloading organic liquids at transfer racks subject to this subpart.
- 78. 40 C.F.R. § 63.2346(c) provides that for each pump, valve, and sampling connection, the owner or operator must comply with the applicable requirements and standards for equipment leaks under 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart TT, Subpart UU, or Subpart H.

The NESHAP for Pharmaceuticals Production at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart GGG

- 79. On September 21, 1998, EPA promulgated the NESHAP for Pharmaceuticals Production (NESHAP Subpart GGG), codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart GGG. 63 Fed. Reg. 50326. The NESHAP Subpart GGG establishes, among other standards, requirements for performance testing of "large control devices." See 40 C.F.R. § 63.1250.
- 80. A "large control device" is defined as a control device that controls total HAP emissions of greater than or equal to 10 tons/yr, before control. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1251.
- 81. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(d)(3)(ii)(A) states that the performance shall be conducted by performing emission testing on the inlet and outlet of the control device following the testing methods and procedures of 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(b).
- 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(d)(3)(ii)(B) provides that performance testing shall be conducted under absolute or hypothetical worst-case conditions, as defined in paragraphs 40 C.F.R. 63.1257(b)(8)(i)(A) through (B).
- 83. The owner or operator may elect to conduct more than one performance test on the control device for the purpose of establishing more than one operating condition at which the control device achieves the required control efficiency. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(d)(3)(ii)(C).

Wisconsin State Implementation Plan

- 84. On January 18,1995, EPA approved the Wisconsin Federally Enforceable Operating Permit (FESOP) program. See 60 Fed. Reg. 3543. The Wisconsin regulations governing the FESOP program are codified at Wisconsin Administrative Code rule (NR) 407 and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2570(c).
- 85. On January 18, 1995, EPA approved the Wisconsin Construction Permit program. See 60 Fed. Reg. 3543. The Wisconsin regulations governing the Construction Permit program are codified at NR 406 and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2570(c).

Hydrite's Operation and Construction Permits

- 86. The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources issued an Operation Permit, No. 113063390-P12 (2011 Operation Permit), to the Facility on September 9, 2011.
- 87. The 2011 Operation Permit contains a set of special conditions (Condition I.A.) that apply to the entire Facility.
- 88. Condition I.A.3.a.(2)(c) states that the permittee shall only use specific emission units to process off-site waste materials, which includes the T200 series tanks and T400(a) and T400(b) of the T400 series tanks.
- 89. Condition I.A.5.b.(3) states that the Facility shall prepare, maintain, and update a written plan to calculate the VOC and HAP emission rate for each emission unit. This plan shall be updated at a minimum every five years.

- 90. Condition I.A.7.a.(1)(e) states that Hydrite shall limit the VOC emissions from all materials processed to not more than 41,000 pounds per month averaged over each consecutive 12-month period for the entire Facility.
- 91. Condition I.A.7.b.(2)(d) provides that compliance with the VOC emission limits shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of the 2011 Operation Permit for processes, control devices, fugitive losses, tank farms, and other sources of VOC as appropriate. Emissions from all sources shall be summed to determine compliance with the facility-wide emission limitations.
- 92. Condition I.A.7.b.(2)(b) provides that the permittee shall calculate VOC emissions from fugitive losses according to the EPA's <u>1995 Protocol for Equipment Leak Emission</u> <u>Estimates</u>.
- 93. Condition I.A.7.b.(2)(c) provides that emissions for any tank containing HAP shall be calculated according to EPA methodology to control VOC emissions.
- 94. Condition I.A.8.a.(1)(a) provides that federal HAP emissions from the Facility may not exceed 1,666 pounds per month (10 tons per year) of any individual HAP.
- 95. Condition I.A.8.a.(1)(b) provides that federal HAP emissions from the Facility may not exceed 4,166 pounds per month (25 tons per year) of all HAP combined. This limit and the limit given in Paragraph 94 shall be determined as an average over each consecutive 12-month period.
- 96. Condition I.A.8.b.(2)(d) provides that compliance with the HAP emission limits shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of the 2011 Operation Permit for processes, control devices, fugitive losses, tank farms, and other sources of HAP as appropriate. Emissions from all sources shall be summed to determine compliance with the facility-wide emission limitation
- 97. Condition I.A.8.c.(1) provides that the Facility shall sum the results of all of the monthly facility-wide individual HAP totals to determine the monthly combined HAP emissions.
- 98. Condition I.A.8.b.(1)(b) provides that the permittee shall calculate HAP emissions from fugitive losses according to the EPA's <u>1995 Protocol for Equipment Leak Emission</u> <u>Estimates</u>.
- 99. Condition I.A.8.b.(1)(c) provides that emissions for any tank containing HAP shall be calculated according to EPA methodology to control Federal Hazardous Air Pollutant emissions.
- 100. The 2011 Operation Permit includes additional applicable requirements while processing off-site material (Condition I.G.) that apply to all affected process equipment and control devices.

- 101. Condition I.G.2.a.(1) provides that the permittee shall control total organic compound (TOC) emissions by 98 percent control efficiency on all process vents when processing offsite materials containing HAP listed in Table 1 of the NESHAP Subpart DD.
- 102. Condition I.G.2.b.(1) provides that the permittee shall demonstrate compliance with Paragraph 101 and control HAP emissions by connecting each process vent through a closedvent system to a control device that is designed and operated in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 63.693.
- 103. The 2011 Operation Permit includes additional requirements (Condition I.M.) for the Tank Farms located at the East Facility of Hydrite's operations, including the T200 and T400 series tanks for off-site materials.
- 104. The permittee shall provide Tank Level 1 controls in accordance with the NESHAP Subpart OO for tanks that contain HAP listed in Table 1 of the NESHAP Subpart DD. Compliance with this requirement shall occur upon startup for sources constructed or modified after October 13, 1994. Compliance with this requirement shall occur on or before February 1, 2000 for sources constructed before October 13, 1994. Condition I.M.2.a.(1).
- 105. The affected storage tanks shall have a fixed roof with the specifications given in 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(c). Condition I.M.2.b.(2).
- 106. The affected storage tanks shall have the fixed roof installed whenever a regulated material is in the tank. Condition I.M.2.b.(3).
- 107. The permittee shall inspect the fixed roof and its closure devices. Condition I.M.2.b.(4).
- 108. The permittee shall prepare and maintain a record for each tank with information including the date that each inspection of the fixed roof and its closure devices is performed. Condition I.M.2.c.(4)(c).
- 109. The 2011 Operation Permit contains conditions (Condition I.C.) applicable to operation of the carbon adsorber (carbon drum), C05.
- 110. The permittee shall monitor emissions from the relief vents on each carbon adsorber (carbon drum) used to control VOC and VHAP emissions at a minimum of every 30 days with a photoionization detector for total VOC. If an instrument reading of organic compounds exceeds 500 ppm, breakthrough is considered detected. Condition I.C.1.a.(2).
- 111. Upon detection of breakthrough, the permittee shall replace the activated carbon in the control device. Condition I.C.1.a.(3).
- 112. The 2011 Operation Permit includes additional conditions (Condition I.ZZZ.) applicable to the entire Facility.
- 113. The permittee must include all deviations from and violations of applicable requirements in semi-annual monitoring reports. Condition I.ZZZ.1.b.(1)(d).

- 114. The Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources issued a Construction Permit, No. 14-SML-060 (2015 Construction Permit), to the Facility on February 26, 2015.
- 115. The 2015 Construction Permit includes a set of conditions (2015 Condition I.B.) that applies to the thermal oxidation system used as a control device.
- 116. 2015 Condition I.B.2.a.(1) requires that the thermal oxidation system have a control efficiency of VOC and organic HAP that shall be maintained at a minimum of 98 percent.
- 117. 2015 Condition I.B.2.b.(2) provides that the permittee shall perform compliance emission tests to verify the overall control efficiency of the thermal oxidizer. Compliance testing shall be done in accordance with the procedures in 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(d)(3)(ii)(A) through (C).
- 118. 2015 Condition I.B.2.b.(2) also provides that control efficiency shall be conducted within 90 days of issuance of the 2015 Construction Permit and at least once every 24 months.

Findings of Fact

- 119. Hydrite owns and operates the Facility located at 114 N Main Street, Cottage Grove, Wisconsin 53527. Hydrite took ownership of the Facility in 1970.
- 120. The Facility is a chemical manufacturing plant that also operates as a hazardous waste transfer, storage, and disposal facility (TSDF). The chemicals that Hydrite processes at the Facility include, but are not limited to, methanol, formaldehyde, methyl methacrylate, glycol ether, and off-site hazardous waste material.
- 121. Hydrite's Operation and Construction Permits include terms and conditions designed to limit HAP and VOC emissions below Title V and major source thresholds. These terms and conditions are federally enforceable pursuant to Section NR 407.09(3)(a) of the Wisconsin State Implementation Plan.
- 122. On April 3 through 6, 2017, EPA conducted a CAA inspection at the Facility.
- 123. Hydrite operates equipment at the Facility that includes but is not limited to pumps, valves, and pressure relief devices that are intended to operate in off-site material and VHAP service, and are therefore subject to the NESHAP for Equipment Leaks at 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart V.
- 124. During EPA's inspection, Hydrite provided EPA with the Facility's leak, detection, and repair database for equipment monitored at the Facility since October 2012 (LDAR database). The LDAR database included monitoring data for compliance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart V.
- 125. During the inspection, EPA requested logs of equipment in vacuum service. Hydrite confirmed that it does not document if pieces of equipment are in vacuum service during monitoring.

- 126. The LDAR database identified 823 pieces of equipment subject to 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart V, under the requirements of the NESHAP Subpart DD.
- 127. During the inspection on April 4, 2017, EPA detected a leak at a pump in off-site material service, identified as SOD-TP-900, by both visual inspection and EPA Method 21 instrument readings of 30,000 and 50,000 ppm. The pump was last monitored on March 27, 2017, and a leak was not detected. Weekly visual monitoring failed to identify the visual leak.
- 128. Additionally, the LDAR database shows that Hydrite did not monitor the SOD-TP-900 pump monthly in 2012 and 2013, totaling 24 months of missed monitoring.
- 129. During the inspection, EPA noted three untagged pieces of equipment in off-site material service at Column 1 in the North Process Room of the Facility, including one bleeder valve and two instrumentation valves.
- 130. During the inspection, Hydrite provided two statements of certification stating that the affected equipment at the Facility, including the tanks listed in Paragraph 131, is equipped with and operating air emission controls according to the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD.
- 131. Hydrite confirmed that the following tanks in off-site material service have Level 1 controls in accordance with the requirements of Table 3 of the NESHAP Subpart DD and its 2011 Operation Permit: T204, T205, T212, T213, T214, T215, T218, T219, T220, T221, T241, T242, T401, T402, and T405.
- 132. Hydrite controls emissions from the tanks identified in Paragraph 131 by venting to a thermal oxidizer with a closed-vent system. The closed-vent system is not designed to operate at a pressure below atmospheric pressure.
- 133. During the inspection, EPA conducted monitoring of equipment at the tanks in off-site material service identified in Paragraph 131. The results of this monitoring are summarized in Table 1.
- 134. Each tank identified in Paragraph 131 has a fixed roof equipped with a manway and manway cover. The manway cover, which serves as the closure or locking device for the manway, is designed to be secured with one bolt. EPA observed unbolted manways on T241 and T242 at the Facility. EPA noted that T212 was bolted during monitoring. EPA measured detectable emissions to the atmosphere at both unbolted and bolted manways, as shown in Table 1.
- 135. Each tank identified in Paragraph 131 has a fixed roof equipped with a pressure relief device which Hydrite identifies as a "pressure safety element" (PSE).
- 136. Each tank identified in Paragraph 131 has a fixed roof equipped with a conservation vent and vacuum breaker also used as a pressure relief device.
- 137. Each tank identified in Paragraph 131 has a fixed roof equipped with an agitator.

- 138. During the inspection, EPA noted that Hydrite does not inspect or monitor the closed-vent system at the affected tanks. The LDAR database does not contain records of inspections of any of the affected tank roofs' equipment, including manways, PSEs, and agitators. Hydrite confirmed that it does not inspect or monitor these pieces of equipment on the affected tanks' roofs.
- 139. Below is a table with the results of EPA monitoring of equipment on the roofs of tanks in off-site material service conducted on April 4, 2017. EPA measurements were made with a flame ionization detector for VOC and organic HAP emissions.

Tank	Equipment Type	Tag (if applicable)	Instrument Reading (ppm)	Confirmation Reading (ppm)
T204	Manway		> 10,000	Hydrite staff observed reading
T205	Vacuum Breaker		1,800	674
T205	PSE	T205-PSE- 100	5,200	
T205	Agitator		> 10,000	> 10,000
T212	Manway		> 10,000	> 10,000
T213	Manway		1,700	
T213	Agitator		1,200	
T220	PSE	T220-PSE- 100	> 10,000	> 10,000
T221	Manway		> 10,000	>10,000
T241	Manway		> 10,000	> 10,000
T241	PSE		680	520
T241	Agitator		> 10,000	> 10,000
T242	PSE	T242-PSE- 100	> 10,000	> 10,000
T242	Manway	· · · · ·	> 10,000	> 10,000

T405	PSE	T405-PSE-	3,800	Hydrite staff
		100		observed
				reading

- 140. During the inspection, EPA reviewed isometric drawings of monitored equipment annotated with monitoring results created by a third-party consulting service. EPA noted instances in which third-party monitoring found unsealed open-ended lines. EPA also reviewed Hydrite's Semi-Annual Compliance Monitoring Reports submitted in 2014, 2015, and 2016 to comply with the reporting requirements of the NESHAP Subpart DD. Hydrite did not report the unsealed open-ended lines EPA noted as deviations in its Semi-Annual Compliance Monitoring Reports.
- 141. In the South Dock ("SOD," as identified by Hydrite) of the East Side of the Facility, drums of off-site hazardous material are unloaded and charged to process vessels.
- 142. On April 4, 2017, between 2:45 PM and 4:22 PM CST, EPA observed an open hazardous waste drum with a capacity 55 gallons. The drum was labeled with a profile identification number (96050052) per U.S. Department of Transportation regulations. EPA took an instrument reading for VOC emissions at the opening of the drum of 2,500 ppm. This reading confirms the presence of VOC and organic HAP emissions. Hydrite staff confirmed the observation.
- 143. At the time of the observation, the SOD was empty and inactive. Only EPA engineers and Hydrite staff on the EPA inspection tour were present. The hazardous waste drum was not actively being unloaded or filled.
- 144. During the inspection, EPA requested all spreadsheets used to calculate VOC and HAP emissions from the Facility's operations. Hydrite provided emissions calculations for 2015 and 2016.
- 145. Calculations for HAP and VOC emissions from fugitive losses are absent from the 2015 and 2016 emissions calculations described in Paragraph 144.
- 146. During the inspection, Hydrite confirmed that it does not calculate or account for fugitive losses from the Facility's operations.
- 147. Based on a review of the 516 process model used to calculate HAP emissions during the inspection, EPA found that the model was underestimating methyl methacrylate (MMA) emission rates and was last updated in 2006.
- 148. Hydrite operates three scrubbers not included in its permits. The "Northwest," "Northeast," and "South" scrubbers are used to control air emissions from processes at the Facility, and are located upstream of the thermal oxidizer.
- 149. The South Process Room has a dedicated scrubber (South scrubber) used to control air emissions. Hydrite confirmed that, due to the nature of the continuous 516 process, the

South scrubber is used as the main control device if the thermal oxidizer is down when the continuous 516 process is running.

- 150. During the inspection, EPA requested past performance testing reports for the thermal oxidizer. Hydrite provided a report from testing of the thermal oxidizer dated June 25, 2015, and entitled "Report on the Destruction Efficiency Testing" (2015 Report).
- 151. The 2015 Report does not state whether or not the Northwest, Northeast, and South scrubbers were running during the performance test; however, Hydrite confirmed that the scrubbers were running during the performance testing described in the 2015 Report.
- 152. Hydrite uses 55 gallon drums containing activated carbon (carbon drums) to control HAP emissions from HAP-containing tanks including T162 and T173.
- 153. During the inspection, EPA received an inventory of all tanks at the Facility, which includes the tank's design capacity, which control device is used to control emissions, and what material is held in the tank.
- 154. On April 5, 2017, EPA used a flame ionization detector (FID) to monitor for breakthrough of the vent stream exiting carbon drum for tank T173. EPA measured an instrument reading of 4,800 ppm.
- 155. On April 5, 2017, Hydrite took a meter reading using a photoionization detector (PID). Hydrite's PID has a 10.6 eV lamp. Hydrite measured 0 ppm at the carbon drum vent stream at T173.
- 156. Hydrite uses T173 to store methanol. Methanol has an ionization potential of 10.84 eV.
- 157. Hydrite uses T162 to store formalin, a 37 percent formaldehyde solution. Formaldehyde has an ionization potential of 10.88 eV.
- 158. Since Hydrite's PID has a 10.6 eV lamp, it cannot read emissions from chemicals with an ionization potential greater than 10.6 eV. Hydrite is unable to detect breakthrough from the carbon drums controlling tanks T162 and T173 using a PID.
- 159. During the inspection, EPA requested Hydrite's Carbon Drum Monitoring records for 2015 and 2016. These records show that the carbon drum controlling tank T173 has not been changed in at least two years. Hydrite confirmed that it had not changed the carbon drum in at least two years.
- 160. During the inspection, EPA toured the West Side of the Facility where chemical products are accepted, shipped, and packaged for distribution. EPA noted two specific instances of open and inactive containers venting to the open air.
- 161. In the Solvent Filling Room at the West Side, EPA observed a drum labeled as glycol ether with a wand sitting in the opening. The drum was not being filled or unloading, and no member of Hydrite staff was using the drum for any purpose at the time of the observation. EPA measured an instrument reading of 4,300 ppm at the drum opening.

- 162. Also in the Solvent Filling Room, EPA observed two open drums contained hazardous waste. One drum had a filling wand in the opening and was not actively being unloaded or filled. EPA measured an instrument reading of 6,800 ppm.
- 163. At the West Side operations of the Facility, Hydrite stores, transfers, blends, compounds, or packages organic liquids, including, but not limited to, methanol and methyl isobutyl ketone.
- 164. Hydrite did not account for fugitive emissions from the following operations at the Facility in its required monthly and 12-month rolling emission calculations for VOC and individual and total HAP: storage of off-site material, HAP, and VOC in tanks; tank unloading and loading; West Side drumming and truck unloading and loading; and equipment leaks from pumps, compressors, agitators, pressure relief devices, sampling connection systems, openended valves or lines, valves, connectors, or instrumentation systems.
- 165. From 2008 to the present, Hydrite's total emissions for HAP, including fugitive emissions from HAP emission sources at the Facility, have exceeded 10 tpy (individual) and/or 25 tpy (total).

Violations

- 166. Hydrite has failed to comply with the provisions of 40 C.F.R Part 63, Subpart DD, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.680(a) and Section 112 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412.
- 167. Hydrite has failed to operate and maintain affected sources at its Facility in a manner consistent with safety and good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(e).
- 168. Hydrite has failed to control air emissions from each tank at its Facility used to manage offsite material, including but not limited to the tanks specified in Paragraph 131, in accordance with the requirements listed in 40 C.F.R. § 63.685, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(b)(1)(i) and § 63.685(b).
- 169. Hydrite has failed to control air emissions from each container used to manage off-site material, in accordance with requirements listed in 40 C.F.R. § 63.688, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.683(b)(l)(i) and § 63.688, which require compliance with the standards for control specified in 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart PP at 40 C.F.R. § 63.922(d) and § 63.923(d).
- 170. Hydrite has failed to control air emissions from leaks for all pumps, compressors, agitators, pressure relief devices, sampling connection systems, open-ended valves or lines, valves, connectors, or instrumentation systems that contain off-site material having a total HAP concentration equal to or greater than 10 percent by weight and are intended to operate for 300 hours or more during a calendar year in accordance with either 40 C.F.R. § 61.242 through 61.247 in 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart V National Emission Standards for Equipment Leaks or 40 C.F.R. § 63.162 through 63.182 in Subpart H National Emission Standards for Organic Hazardous Air Pollutants from Equipment Leaks, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.691.

- 171. Hydrite has failed to control air emissions from each closed-vent system that is designed to operate with no detectable organic emissions or is designed to operate at a pressure below atmospheric pressure, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.693(c).
- 172. Hydrite has failed to perform the inspection and monitoring procedures listed in 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(a)(1) and (2), in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.695(a).
- 173. Hydrite has failed to submit reports to the Administrator in accordance with the applicable notification and reporting requirements in 40 C.F.R. § 63.9 and 63.10 as specified in Table 2 of 40 C.F.R. 63, Subpart DD, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.697(a).
- 174. From May 2008 to the present, Hydrite has been a major source of HAP and therefore required to comply with the requirements of the NESHAP for MON at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart FFFF. Hydrite has failed to comply with the requirements of the NESHAP for MON, which include emission standards, requirements to demonstrate initial and continuous compliance with emission limits, operating limits, work practice standards, and recordkeeping requirements associated with miscellaneous organic chemical manufacturing, in violation of 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart FFFF and Section 112 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412.
- 175. From February 2007 to the present, Hydrite has been a major source of HAP and therefore required to comply with the requirements of the NESHAP for Organic Liquids Distribution at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart EEEE. Hydrite has failed to comply with the requirements of the NESHAP Subpart EEEE, which include emission standards, requirements to demonstrate initial and continuous compliance with emission limits, operating limits, work practice standards, and recordkeeping requirements associated with non-gasoline organic liquids distribution, in violation of 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart EEEE and Section 112 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7412.
- 176. Hydrite has failed to update within 5 years a written plan to calculate the VOC and HAP emission rate for each emission unit in violation of its 2011 Operation Permit Condition I.A.5.b.(3).
- 177. Hydrite has failed to calculate VOC emissions from fugitive losses in violation of its 2011 Operation Permit Condition I.A.7.b.(2)(d).
- 178. Has failed to calculate HAP emissions from fugitive losses in violation of its 2011 Operation Permit Condition I.A.8.b.(2)(d).
- 179. Hydrite has failed to monitor its carbon adsorber control devices with a photoionization detector for total VOC in violation of its 2011 Permit Condition I.C.1.a.(2).
- 180. Hydrite has failed to conduct a performance test in accordance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.1257(d)(3)(ii)(A) through (C) in violation of its 2015 Construction Permit Condition I.B.2.b.(2).

Environmental Impacts

- 181. VOC emissions increase the amount of pollutants that have the ability to create photochemical smog under certain conditions.
- 182. HAP emissions increase the amount of pollutants that are known or suspected to cause cancer or other serious health effects, such as reproductive effects or birth defects, and/or adverse environmental effects.

6/30/17 Date

h Edward Nam

Director Air and Radiation Division

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I certify that I sent a Notice and Finding of Violation, No. EPA-5-17-WI-03, by Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, to:

Jim Maderski, Operations Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. 114 N Main Street Cottage Grove, Wisconsin 53527

I also certify that I sent e-copies of the Finding of Violation by E-mail to:

Dave Welsh, Environmental, Health & Safety Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. <u>dave.welsh@hydrite.com</u>

Ken Yass, Technical Regulatory Services Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. <u>ken.yass@hydrite.com</u>

Joy Warborg, Associate Environmental Manager Hydrite Chemical Co. joy.warborg@hydrite.com

Maria Hill, Chief, Compliance, Enforcement, and Emission Inventory Section State of Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources <u>Maria.Hill@wisconsin.gov</u>

On the <u>30th</u> day of JUNE 2017

ming for Kathy Jones Kathy Jones

Program Technician AECAB, PAS

CERTIFIED MAIL RECEIPT NUMBER:

1001 0320 006 1454 5064

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 68 of 69

Appendix B: Minor Source Demonstration Requirements.

Hydrite shall comply with the following requirements in evaluating whether: (i) any single HAP emitted from the Facility equals or exceeds 10 tpy; and (ii) combined emissions of HAPs from the Facility equal or exceed 25 tpy.

 Hydrite's evaluation must assess the monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting required for each HAP emission source – including the point source and any uncaptured emissions – to demonstrate the current actual and/or potential emissions meet the HAP emissions limits established in the Facility's Permits.

2) For each HAP emission source, Hydrite must identify the methodology used to determine how the HAP emissions are being estimated (*e.g.*, stack test, continuous emissions monitoring, engineering assessment equations, emission factors, emissions during startup and shutdown, etc.).

a) Hydrite shall use EPA's 1995 "Protocol for Equipment Leak Emission Estimates" ("1995 Protocol") refined factors based on screened leak rates to estimate fugitive emissions from unscreened connectors and unscreened manways.

b) Hydrite shall not use refined factors to estimate emissions from unmonitored equipment other than connectors and manways.

c) Hydrite shall use the Average Emission Factor approach described in the 1995 Protocol for all other unmonitored equipment types, except as set forth in Subparagraph (a) above, including those pieces that are difficult or unsafe to monitor and fully insulated valves on the non-NESHAP Subpart DD, RCRA Subpart BB equipment for which the valve interface is not assessable for monitoring.

Case: 3:20-cv-00950 Document #: 2-1 Filed: 10/15/20 Page 69 of 69

3) If Hydrite generates wastewater that contains a HAP, HAP emissions should be estimated from the point of generation and included in the list of emissions sources.

4) For any emission limit deviations from a control device, process upsets, malfunctions, or other HAP emissions events, Hydrite must consider emissions associated with the event in the annual HAP emissions calculation to demonstrate it maintained the emissions below major source threshold;

5) If Hydrite uses a control device or process limitations to maintain HAP emissions below the major source threshold, Hydrite shall:

a) include appropriate operating parameters, and recordkeeping and reporting for those parameters and process limitations; and

b) ensure that the Facility operates the control device with good air pollution control practices and/or with an appropriate Operations and Maintenance Plan.

6) In determining HAP emissions from the Facility, Hydrite shall not utilize any EPA Method 21 monitoring data collected prior to completion of the LDAR Audit required by Consent Decree Paragraph 15.